Docket No. 22-586

SCA EFiled: Oct 24 2022 03:47PM EDT Transaction ID 68295234

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

LEWIS SPRINGER & KAREN SPRINGER, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

- v. -

BIG BEND MOUNTAIN RETREAT WATER UTILITY SYSTEM ASSOCIATION, EARL GILLIS & KAREN GILLIS, WES RUNYAN & TAMMY RUNYAN, AND TRACY WILSON & DAVID WILSON, Defendants-Below, Respondents.

> ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SUMMERS, COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. CC-45-2021-C-39

# **PETITIONERS' BRIEF**

# **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- I. The lower Court erred in considering documents and other materials not contained in the complaint and not previously made exhibits in a related action by failing to convert Respondent Runyans' (Wilson's) Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment, in its decision to dismiss Petitioners' complaint, under this Court's previous decision of *Forshey v. Jackson*, 671 S.E.2d 748.
- II. The lower Court erred by failing to convert Respondents Wes Runyan and Tamy Runyan's (Wilson's) Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment, since the lower Court chose to consider a list of expenses attached to Respondents Wes Runyan and Tamy Runyons' (Wilson's) Motion to Dismiss.
- III. The lower Court erred by applying the Doctrine of Laches to Petitioners' claims as the lower court erroronously considered the list of expenses and Petitioners attempted repeatedly attempted to obtain contributions from Respondents but were refused.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners filed their Complaint against Big Bend Mountain Retreat Water Utility System Association ("Water Association") and residents and/or participants in the Association on March 31, 2022. JA 000071. Petitioners alleged that each of the Respondents, through their action and inaction have unjustly enriched themselves through the utilization of the water available to them from the Well property, which well provides water to the members of the Water Association. JA 000071–76. Further that each of the Respondents were and have been unjustly enriched through

the utilization of water from the Well property, all the while having knowledge, constructive or actual, of Petitioners' continued payments to upkeep and maintain the water system. *Id*.

In 2011, the Circuit Court of Summers County previously Ordered the formation of

an entity to accept ownership of the well property to the Water Association, which Order

was memorialized in a Deed conveying ownership of the well property to the Water Association,

(Civil Action No. 10-C-35). The Deed itself, added as an exhibit and taken judicial notice of in

the lower court's order (JA 000116-117 and JA 000224), provides in pertinent part:

2) The members of the Big Bend Mountain Retreat Water Utility Association will be comprised of those landowners using the water system. . . .

3) Each lot owner in the Big Bend Mountain Retreat will have the right to join and participate in this entity. There are ten (10) lots; therefore there will be ten (10) potential taps for water service.

4) The Association will establish conditions and responsibilities for use of water which will run with the land.

5) Possession of the existing water system will be turned over to the Association without initial cost to the members.

6) The Association will establish reasonable rates for the users of its water, which are consistent with the rates of water systems of this nature, and which fully cover the costs of operation and maintenance. The Association will fully account to its members for expenses and capital expenditures.

7) Owners of the ten (10) lots in Big Bend Mountain Retreat will have an absolute right to use the water system upon payment of the rates established by the Association, provided the system has sufficient capacity to supply any new users. If the system does not have sufficient capacity to supply a new user with water, the new user will be responsible for paying the costs to upgrade the water system.

8) The users of the water system will pay their pro-rata share of the costs of operating the water system.

JA 000117. Petitioners herein were parties to that civil action 10-C-35 which initially dealt with

the issues surrounding the Well property located in the Big Bend Mountain Retreat. JA 000221.

This Deed, by its terms, requires all residents of BBMR who make the affirmative choice to hook

up to the water system (e.g. Respondents) to pay for the cost of the water system, both in terms of

usage and maintenance (including "expenses and capital expenditures").

Since the entry of the 2011 Order, Petitioners utilized their home at the Big Bend Mountain Retreat ("BBMR") as a temporary home—staying for a short while and then returning to New Jersey for medical treatments for Mr. Springer, who had suffered tremendous injuries as a result of a car accident. The Springer's home at BBMR was dependent on the functioning well in order to have water at their home. Decidedly, as repairs and expenses for the well rose, it necessitated someone paying for them. The Springers, who were dependent upon the well water for their home, were caught in a position where if it was not paid for, the Springers would not have water. Being an elderly couple in ill-health, being without water was not an option.

Over time the Springers expended considerable sums for the maintenance and operation of the Well property and the water system itself to ensure regular access to clean, drinkable water. JA 000071–76. Since 2011, Mr. Springer frequently requested the financial assistance of the other users of the water system largely without any contributions or reciprocations. JA 000076.

On or about March 11, 2021, Respondents Wes Runyan and Tammy Runyan, purchased their lot on the Big Bend Mountain Retreat. JA 000002. After the purchase of their lot, Respondent Runyans, linked up their mobile home to the well property water access port. JA 000003, which linkage, per the terms of the 2001 Deed, required Respondent Runyans to pay for the cost of the water system and their usage of the water. Mr. Springer informed the Respondents Runyans of the requirement to pay for the water per the Summers County Circuit Court's previous Order and specifically the Deed conveying the well property and water system to the Water Association. JA 000003. Respondent Runyans refused to pay for the use of the water and the maintenance and upkeep of the water system despite their knowledge of the Deed and its requirements. JA 000076. Petitioner and Respondent engaged in a verbal argument on the well property and

following this, Respondent Runyans initiated an action in the lower court seeking injunctive relief against both the Springers and Water Association (Civil Action No. 21-P-14). JA 000003–4.

As the Respondent Runyans chose to sue an entity that could not represent itself, Petitioner Springers sought legal representation for that entity, himself and his wife, as he was acting on behalf of the Water Association when he requested payments for water usage from Appellee Runyans in 2021. To date, Respondent Runyans have not paid for their water usage, having paid nothing toward the maintenance of the water system, and have paid nothing toward what should have been properly capitalized costs.

Petitioners initially filed their Complaint on December 15, 2021, and filed their Amended Complaint on March 31, 2022, against Water Association, and residents and/or participants in the Association. JA 000071 & 000221. Petitioners' complaint outlined that each of the Respondents have unjustly enriched themselves through the utilization of the water available to them from the Well property, without, for the most part, paying for the utilization of the water from the Well property, all having knowledge, either constructive or actual, of the monies expended by the Petitioners to upkeep and maintain the water system, and knowledge of their obligations under the Court's Order entered in Civil Action No. 10-C-35. JA 000071–000076. Respondents Runyans failed to make any payments for their use of the Well property water since March 2021. In addition to their non-payment for their water usage, Respondent Runyans previously sued the water system thereby necessitating its hiring of an attorney to represents it in that court action. JA 000114-115.

On or about April 29, 2022, Respondents Wes and Tamy Runyan filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(6). JA 000112-113. This motion was joined on or about June 6, 2022 by Respondents Tracey and David Wilson. JA 000171. In their motion to dismiss, Respondents attached as exhibits the Deed transferring the Well Property to the Water Association as well as a preliminary list of expenses. JA 000114-117.

On June 10, 2022, the lower court held a hearing on Respondents Runyans (and Wilsons) motion to dismiss (JA 000188–219) wherein it found that it was "appropriate to handle this matter under. . . Rule 12 as a motion to dismiss." that "laches is an appropriate defense." and granted "the motion to dismiss based on the doctrine of laches . . . ." JA 000217. The lower court summarily issued an order (JA 000220–229) first determining under *Forshey v.Jackson*, 671 S.E.2d 748, 754 (W. Va. 2008) that the exhibits to Respondents' motion to dismiss were properly considered stating "The Deed is not in dispute and, as a recorded instrument, is likewise susceptible to judicial notice" and the list of expenses because " The expenses listed in this document, prepared by the Plaintiffs, are consistent with those discussed, in general terms, in the Plaintiffs' Complaint. Furthermore, as the same were made part of the record in the related injunctive proceeding before this Court, the same is susceptible to judicial notice." JA 000224. Further, and based on its review of the exhibit listing expenses of Mr. Springer, the lower court ruled that the Petitioners' claim was barred by the doctrine of laches. JA 000226-228.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court has provided 'Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo.' Syllabus point 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac*— *Buick, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995).''' Syl. Pt. 1, *Longwell v. Bd. Of Educ. of the Cnty. of Marshall*, 213 W.Va. 486, 583 S.E.2d 109 (2003). Syl. pt. 1, *Evans v. United Bank, Inc.*, 235 W. Va. 619, 620, 775 S.E.2d 500, 501 (2015). This Court's review of a lower tribunal's decision "whether or not to review a document outside of the pleadings, which is attached to a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, will be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Syl. pt. 7, *Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip.*, *LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va.*, 244 W. Va. 508, 515, 854 S.E.2d 870, 877 (2020)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves the inappropriate review of documents under Rule 12(b)(6) not attached to Petitioners complaint and then the use of those documents by the lower court to provide a basis for a laches defense. Further, the lower tribunal's consideration of and reliance upon documents outside of the pleadings, without converting the motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment, represents an abuse of discretion. Petitioners, in their response to the motion to dismiss, requested that "If this Court decides to treat Defendants' motion as a motion to dismiss, it should not consider the documents attached to Defendants' motion. If, however, this Court decides to consider these documents, the Defendants' motion should be properly treated as a motion for summary judgment and Plaintiffs should be afforded reasonable time to respond." JA 000153.

The Petitioners' unjust enrichment claim was incorrectly dismissed due to the lower tribunal's erroneous interpretation of Rule 12(b)(6), its erroneous interpretation of this Court's decision in *Forshey v. Jackson*, 671 S.E.2d 748 and its progeny, because first, the list of expenses document was not implicitly or explicitly referred to in the Petitioners' complaint, second, the document is not integral to the allegations contained in Petitioners' complaint; and finally, the respondents themselves questioned the authenticity of the document. Under this Court's holding in *Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va.*, if any one of the above three are true, then a 244 W. Va. 508, 515, 854 S.E.2d 870, 877 (2020), if a document or treat the motion as one for summary judgment as required by Rule 12(b)(7).

## STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioners submit that this case is appropriate for oral argument under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because this case involves a complicated set/series of facts, and the facts and legal arguments would be significantly aided by oral argument. Further, clarification on the appropriate application of *Forshey* analysis vis-à-vis what is appropriately considered and taken judicial notice of is of utmost importance to the clear the otherwise murky waters of *Forshey's* ever growing interpretation.

## ARGUMENT

A. The lower court erred in considering documents and other materials not contained in the complaint and not previously made exhibits in a related action, in its decision to dismiss Petitioners' complaint, under this Court's previous decision of *Forshey v. Jackson* and the lower Court erred by failing to convert Respondents Wes Runyan and Tamy Runyan's Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment, since the lower Court chose to consider a list of expenses attached to Respondents Wes Runyan and Tamy Runyons' Motion to Dismiss.

The lower court abused its discretion when it considered a "list of expenses" in its determination of whether Petitioners had stated a claim upon which relief may be granted. Specifically, as to whether the doctrine of laches—argued below—would attach to deny petitioners relief.

This Court has made clear that generally a complaint forms the sole basis for review for purposes of a motion to dismiss "[o]nly matters contained in the pleading can be considered on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b) R.C.P., and if matters outside the pleading are presented to the court and are not excluded by it, the motion should be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of under Rule 56 R.C.P. if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact in connection therewith. . . ." Syl. pt. 4, .8 *Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Eades*, 150 W.Va. 238, 144 S.E.2d 703 (1965), *overruled on other grounds by Sprouse v. Clay Communication, Inc.*, 158 W.Va. 427, 211 S.E.2d

674 (1975). Accord Syl. pt. 1, Poling v. Belington Bank, Inc., 207 W.Va. 145, 529 S.E.2d 856 (1999). See also FRANKLIN D.. CLECKLEY, ET AL., LITIGATION HANDBOOK ON WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE § 12(B)(6)[3], at 354 (3d ed. 2008) ("Only matters contained in the pleading can be considered on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). However, if matters outside the pleading are presented to the court and are not excluded by it, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgement and disposed of under Rule 56.")

Further, this Court in *Dimon v. Mansy* stated that "the singular purpose of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is to seek a determination whether the plaintiff is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims made in the complaint." *Dimon v. Mansy*, 198 W. Va. 40, 479 S.E.2d 339 (1996). Justice Cleckley discussing this standard has stated that "[a]ll that is required to state a cause of action is a short and plain statement of a claim that will give the defendant fair notice of what plaintiff's claim is and the grounds upon which it rests." FRANKLIN D. CLECKLEY, ET AL., LITIGATION HANDBOOK ON WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE § 12(b)(6), at 1303 (2012) (citing broad support for this contention: *Harris v. Davis*, 197 W. Va. 651, 448 S.E.2d 104 (1996); *Scheuer v. Rhodes*, 416 U.S. 232, 94 S.Ct. 1638 (1974); *Chaveriat v. Williams Pipe Line Co.*, 11 F.3d 1420 (7th Cir. 1993). This Court has recognized "a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim should be viewed with disfavor and rarely granted." *Sauer, Inc. v. American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P.*, 192 W. Va. 150, 154, 451 S.E.2d 451, 455 (1994). In fact, this Court has made clear:

The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which he would entitle him to relief." Syl., *Flowers v. City of Morgantown, W. Va.*, 166 W. Va. 92, 272 S.E.2d 663 (1980) Syllabus point 2, *Stricklen v. Kittle*, 168 W. Va. 147, 287 S.E.2d

148 (1981).

Syl. Pt., *Sauer, Inc. v. American Bituminous Power Partners, L.P.*, 192 W. Va. 150, 451 S.E.2d 451 (1994). Flatly, "[a] Complaint should not be dismissed unless 'it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of [her] claim which would entitle [her] to relief." *Conrad v. ARA Szabo*, 198 W.Va. 362, 369-70, 480 S.E.2d 801, 808-09 (1996).

Although entitlement to relief must be shown in the complaint, "a plaintiff is not required to set out facts upon which the claim is based"; all that is required is a "short and plain" statement of a claim. *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995). A Plaintiff's complaint is be construed liberally and in such a way as to favor disposition of a case on its merits:

"In view of the liberal policy of the rules of pleading with regard to the construction of plaintiff's complaint, and in view of the policy of the rules favoring the determination of actions on the merits, the motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim should be viewed with disfavor and rarely granted. The standard which plaintiff must meet to overcome a Rule 12(b) motion is a liberal standard, and few complaints fail to meet it."

John W. Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 161 W.Va. 603, 606, 245 S.E.2d 157, 159 (1978).

See also State ex rel. Smith v. Kermit Lumber & Pressure Treating Co., 200 W.Va. 221, 227, 488

S.E.2d 901, 907 (1997) ("Complaints are to be read liberally as required by the notice pleading

theory underlying the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure." quoting Scott Runyan, 194 W.Va.

at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522).

Rule 201(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence provides the "Kinds of Facts That May

Be Judicially Noticed," specifically providing in pertinent part:

(b) The court may judicially notice a fact that is not subject to reasonable dispute because it:

- (1) is generally known within the trial court's territorial jurisdiction; or
- (2) can be accurately and readily determined from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

W. Va. R. Evid. 201(b). Courts will routinely take judicial notice of records in other matters. *See e.g. Arnold Agency v. W. Va. Lottery Comm'n*, 206 W. Va. 583, 596, 526 S.E.2d 814, 827 (1999) (specifically discussing judicial notice of adjudicative facts in other orders); *Mounts v. Troutman Pepper Hamilton Sanders LLP*, No. 21-0687, 2022 W. Va. LEXIS 616, at \*4 (Oct. 17, 2022) (finding a lower court appropriately took notice of a federal court docket sheet). However, the list of expenses is in dispute and the accuracy of the expenses has been questioned by the Respondents.

Under this Court's decision in *Forshey v. Jackson*: "[a] circuit court ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure may properly consider exhibits attached to the complaint without converting the motion to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment." Syl. pt. 1, *Forshey v. Jackson*, 222 W. Va. 743, 671 S.E.2d 748 (2008). However, this Court has stated that:

Only matters contained in the pleading can be considered on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b) R.C.P., and if matters outside the pleading are presented to the court and are not excluded by it, the motion should be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of under Rule 56 R.C.P. if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact in connection therewith.

Syl. pt. 4, Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va., 244 W. Va. 508,

854 S.E.2d 870 (2020). This seemingly contradictory stance has been clarified by this Court stating

in Mountaineer Fire:

When a movant makes a motion to dismiss a pleading pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, and attaches to the motion a document that is outside of the pleading, a court may consider the document only if

(1) the pleading implicitly or explicitly refers to the document;

(2) the document is integral to the pleading's allegations; and

(3) no party questions the authenticity of the document.

If a document does not meet these requirements, the circuit court must either expressly disregard the document or treat the motion as one for summary judgment as required by Rule 12(b)(7).

Syl. pt. 6, Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va., 244 W. Va. 508,

854 S.E.2d 870 (2020) (formatted by counsel for clarity) (emphasis added)

Here, in its June 23, 2022 Order, the lower court stated and found:

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