No. 22-586

SCA EFiled: Dec 08 2022 02:14PM EST Transaction ID 68543717

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

LEWIS SPRINGER AND KAREN SPRINGER, Petitioners and Plaintiffs below,

v.

BIG BEND MOUNTAIN RETREAT WATER UTILITY SYSTEM ASSOCATION, EARL GILLIS & KAREN GILLIS, WES RUNYAN & TAMY RUNYAN, AND TRACY WILSON & DAVID WILSON, *Respondents and Defendants below.*

RESPONDENTS WES RUNYAN AND TAMY RUNYAN'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONERS LEWIS SPRINGER AND KAREN SPRINGER'S PETITION FOR APPEAL

Daniel J. Burns, West Virginia State Bar No. 11866 PULLIN, FOWLER, FLANAGAN, BROWN & POE, PLLC 252 George Street Beckley, West Virginia (304) 254-9300 dburns@pffwv.com

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

Initially, the Petitioners first contend that the expense list should not have been considered without conversion of the Motion because the Court identified the same as one that existed in the companion injunctive matter. Pets. Brief, pg. 11-12). Petitioners then contend that the inclusion of the expenses list runs afoul of <u>Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W.Va.</u>,

244 W.Va. 508 (2020) and the test laid out therein. (Pets. Brief, pgs. 12-15). Specifically, the Petitioners maintain that the Complaint does not refer "explicitly" to this list. <u>Id.</u> Petitioners also argue that the expense list is not one which the lower Court could have taken proper judicial notice of in the underlying case. <u>Id.</u> Finally, the Petitioners state, in part, that the list was incomplete and thus did not make it susceptible to including under <u>Forshey</u> or <u>Mountaineer Fire</u>. <u>Id.</u>

As this Court has made clear time and time again, Rule 12(b)(6) permits a party to move to dismiss a pleading for "failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." Rule 12(b)(7) of the Rules of Civil Procedure further provides that:

If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to **and not excluded by the court**, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

W.Va. R. Civ. Pro. Rule 12(b)(7)(emphasis added) Thus, the general rule is, that circuit courts considering motions under Rule 12(b)(6) should confine their review to the four corners of the complaint or other disputed pleading and may not consider extraneous documents.

This Court has recognized, however, a limited exception to this rule: a court may review documents annexed to a pleading. Rule 10(c) of the Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "[a] copy of any written instrument which is an exhibit to a pleading is a part thereof for all purposes." This Court has held in Syllabus Point 1 of <u>Forshey v. Jackson</u>, 222 W. Va. 743, 671 S.E.2d 748 (2008), that "[a] circuit court ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure may properly consider exhibits attached to the complaint without converting the motion to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment."

In Forshey, this Court addresses those where a trial court could review extraneous exhibits

without converting the Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal motion into one for summary judgment. This Court

noted that, for purposes of Rule 12(b)(6),

the complaint is deemed to include any written instrument attached to it as an exhibit or any statements or documents incorporated in it by reference. Even where a document is not incorporated by reference, the court may nevertheless consider it where the complaint "relies heavily upon its terms and effect," which renders the document "integral" to the complaint....

[G]enerally, the harm to the plaintiff when a court considers material extraneous to a complaint is the lack of notice that the material may be considered. Accordingly, where plaintiff has actual notice of all the information in the movant's papers and has relied upon these documents in framing the complaint the necessity of translating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion into one under Rule 56 is largely dissipated. ... [O]n a motion to dismiss, a court may consider "documents attached to the complaint as an exhibit or incorporated in it by reference, ... matters of which judicial notice may be taken, or. .. documents either in plaintiffs' possession or of which plaintiffs had knowledge and relied on in bringing suit. Because this standard has been misinterpreted on occasion, we reiterate here that a plaintiff's reliance on the terms and effect of a document in drafting the complaint is a necessary prerequisite to the court's consideration of the document on a dismissal motion; mere notice or possession is not enough.

Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W. Va. at 748, 671 S.E.2d at 753 (emphasis added)(quoting Chambers v.

<u>Time Warner</u>, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 152-53 (2d Cir. 2002)).

Thus, in light of <u>Forshey</u>, this Court has recently held that, when a movant makes a motion to dismiss a pleading pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, and attaches to the motion a document that is outside of the pleading, a court may consider the document only if "(1) the pleading **implicitly or explicitly refers to the document**; (2) the **document is integral to the pleading's allegations**; and (3) **no party questions the authenticity of the document**." <u>Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va.</u>, 244 W. Va. 508, 528, (2020)(emphasis added). If a document does not meet these requirements, the circuit court must either expressly disregard the document or treat the motion as one for summary

judgment as required by Rule 12(b)(7). Id.

Speaking first to the list of expenses, the Respondents maintain that the same was appropriately considered by the lower Court and that Motion conversion was not required. The crux of Petitioners' Amended Complaint and the redress that they seek is for reimbursement of costs they allegedly incurred since 2012. (A.R. 67-79). Specifically, in their Complaint, Petitioners provide a list of expenses including, but not limited to, the following: litigation expenses to obtaining the rights to the well; pipe and pump replacements; pressure washing; staining and associated materials; well house repairs; locks, lighting, and general fixtures; travel expenses for business related to the Water Association; mailing; general property maintenance; electric bills; and, others general expenses. (A.R. 68-69). The expense list at issue, includes, in part, the following:

2006-2012	\$9,072.00	Attorney fees for litigation to obtain well
7/10/19	\$6,000.00	Drilling and other expenses related to well
8/2/14	\$1,000.00	Pressure washing
3/27/19	\$1,247.00	Supplies
Undated	\$ 280.00	Property taxes
9/20/2012	\$ 600.00	Payment to Earl Gillis
Undated	\$ 200.00	Supplies
8/23/21	\$ 32.00	Turnpike fees
Undated	\$ 18.90	Mail expenses
7/8/21	\$ 200.00	Surveillance tapes
7/12/21	\$ 51.00	Trade Name Certificate
7/12/21	\$3,200.00	Property Maintenance
6/30/21	\$7,500.00	Attorney retainer
7/14/21	\$ 825.00	BBMRWUS – Deposit for Water use
6/21 & 7/21	\$ 155.09	Power for wellhouse

(A.R. 114-115). As this Court can and the lower Court did clearly see, the list of expenses mirrors those now being claimed by the Petitioners in their Complaint.

While the Petitioners contend that this list is incomplete, the same does reflect every area

that the Petitioners' make reference to general damages in the Complaint. Petitioners also claim the same is incomplete, incorrectly, as it does not address property taxes nor does it contemplate monies paid for water usage. First, the list does contain a line item for property taxes. (A.R. 115). Second, as has been discussed throughout the record below, neither the Petitioners nor anyone else in the Big Bend Mountain Retreat area have ever paid any sort of monthly rate for their water usage. While the list may not be what Petitioners' would provide to the jury in a trial, it certainly sets forth how and what expenses they are claiming support their claim for unjust enrichment in this case. The lower court's Order makes it clear that the list is being considered not for consideration of damages, but rather whether a valid claim has been presented. (A.R. 226-228). As the list reflects the claimed expenses and anticipated damages in this case, the same is implicitly referred to in the Complaint and appropriate for consideration in this case.

As to the remaining points of the <u>Mountaineer Fire</u> case, the same are met by the nature of the expense list provided by the Petitioner to the Respondents in this case. This list of expenses forms the basis for Petitioners' claims of unjust enrichment. Without Petitioners having expended the sums of money contained in the list, there would be no claim whatsoever that the Petitioners could assert in this case. In other words, without money having been spent there can be no unjust enrichment. Furthermore, Petitioners appear to be confusing authenticity of a document and the accuracy of the contents therein. Throughout the underlying case, these Respondents disputed the expenses incurred or expended by the Petitioners, but made no reference to or argued that this list, which Petitioners' themselves created, was not authentic.⁶ Rather, as the Respondents' Motion to

⁶ Most, if not all, discussions regarding the accuracy of the list occurred during settlement negotiations or discussions between counsel. Furthermore, the same occurred while the injunctive process was ongoing and not in any pleading after the filing of the Complaint. Thus, as it pertains both to settlement negotiations as well as the injunctive

Dismiss demonstrates, the expense list was taken for its word when considering the Petitioners' Complaint under the Doctrine of Laches.

Finally, as to the expenses list, it is important to note how the nature of this document ties into the analysis under <u>Forshey</u>. While notice or possession it not sufficient under <u>Forshey</u>, the facts presented in this case suggest that the <u>Forshey</u> criteria are met. As stated before, the document in question contains a list of expenses, the same expenses listed in the Complaint, that were prepared by the Petitioners related to the underlying injunctive proceeding. These expenses form the basis for Petitioners' claims for damages here. As this list was prepared by the Petitioners themselves, it is reasonable to believe, as the lower Court did, that Petitioners relied heavily on the same to craft their Complaint, had notice and possession of the same, and the document itself is authentic. Thus, under both <u>Forshey</u> and <u>Mountaineer Fire</u>, the lower Court did not err in considering this expense list in ruling on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. Similarly, the lower Court did not err, under both <u>Forshey</u> and <u>Mountaineer Fire</u>, in determining this Motion under Rule 12(b)(6) as it did in this case.

Speaking briefly to the 2012 Deed, the Petitioners do not appear to challenge the lower Court taking judicial notice of the same. Assuming *arguendo* that the lower Court viewed the document under both <u>Forshey</u> and <u>Mountaineer Fire</u>, the lower Court did not err in considering the 2012 Deed in ruling on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. The 2012 Deed is quoted in the Petitioners' Complaint, the same is relied upon explicitly in the Complaint, and no party has questioned the authenticity of the 2012 Deed. (A.R. 66). As such, the Court did not err and was not required to convert Respondents' Motion to Dismiss to one under Rule 56. Thus, the lower Court's decision should be affirmed.

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE PETITIONERS' CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES.

In addressing the application of laches in this case, the Petitioners assert that the Court erred in granting the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. Petitioners initially maintain that their Complaint sought "participation in the water system" in the form of monetary cooperation and establishment of a functioning association. However, no such claim nor no such relief was sought in the Complaint. Petitioners' Complaint addresses known and unknown expenses and claims that the parties were required to provide a monthly rate for water usage.⁷ And, based on a plain reading of the Complaint, seeks reimbursement for pro rata shares of the same. There is no relief sought by the Petitioners, nor no relief that could be implied, that would require "non-monetary cooperation in forming a formal water-system structure, and the establishment of a long-term, prospective solution." (A.R. 65-70).

The remainder of Petitioners' argument is a string of unsupported statements regarding what has previously occurred and what the Petitioners have done in response. (Pets. Brief, pg. 17). For instance, Petitioners assert that they "made attempts" to obtain reimbursement and at one time formed a separate association for the purposes of maintaining adequate water service. (Pets. Brief, pgs. 18-19). Petitioners argue that these attempts, and specifically attempts to collect from these Respondents within a year of their purchase, is enough to defeat laches in this case.⁸ Petitioners finally discuss prior expenses that other Respondents have partially reimbursed them for over the course of the past few

⁷ Petitioners have never plead, nor provided any fact, that a rate was established, was created, or that they paid a rate which they are now, for the first time, claim they sought in their Complaint.

⁸ Petitioners again make reference to matters outside the scope of this case and inappropriate for consideration on appeal. The injunctive matter is not properly before the court and had never been appealed. Similarly, the contents of settlement negotiations in the injunctive matter are not part of the record in the case nor appropriate for consideration on appeal.

years. (Pets. Brief, pg. 22). However, as noted above, Petitioners' argument fail to overcome laches as both a defense and a bar in this case.

While most causes of action are governed by applicable statute of limitations, the West Virginia Supreme Court has held that certain equitable claims, such as unjust enrichment, generally fall outside of the normal application of the general statute of limitation provisions under West Virginia Code. *See generally*, <u>Absure, Inc. v. Huffman</u>, 584 S.E.2d 507, 511 (W. Va. 2003) (per curiam). Plaintiffs' unjust enrichment claim is, in theory, equitable in nature and therefore subject to the doctrine of laches. <u>Absure, Inc. v. Huffman</u>, 584 S.E.2d 507, 511 (W. Va. 2003) (per curiam).

"Laches" is an equitable defense to tort claims, available to a Defendant in an action, which defense can be asserted in response to Plaintiff's inexcusable delay to assert a right Plaintiff possesses. *See, e.g.*, Syllabus, <u>Bumgardner v. Corey</u>, 124 W.Va. 373, 21 S.E.2d 360 (1942). "Laches is a delay in the assertion of a known right which works to the disadvantage of another, or such delay as will warrant the presumption that the party has waived [his] right." Syl. Pt. 4, <u>State of West Virginia v. Carl Lee H.</u>, 196 W.Va. 369, 472 S.E.2d 815 (1996) *quoting* Syl. Pt. 2, <u>Bank of Marlinton v. McLaughlin</u>, 123 W.Va. 608, 17 S.E.2d 213 (1941); Syl. Pt. 1, <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Smith v. Abbot</u>, 187 W.Va. 261, 418 S.E.2d 575 (1992). The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has further held:

virginia nas further nera.

Where a party knows his rights or is cognizant of his interest in a particular subject-matter, but takes no steps to enforce the same until the condition of the other party has, in good faith, become so changed, that he cannot be restored to his former state if the right be then enforced, delay becomes inequitable, and operates as an estoppel against the assertion of the right. This disadvantage may come from death of parties, loss of evidence, change of title or condition of the subject-matter, intervention of equities, or other causes. When a court of equity sees negligence on one side and injury therefrom on the other, it is a ground for denial of relief. Syl. Pt. 5, <u>State of West Virginia v. Carl Lee H.</u>, *quoting*, Syl. Pt. 3, <u>Carter v. Price</u>, 85 W.Va. 744, 102 S.E. 685 (1920); Syl. Pt. 2, <u>Mundy v. Arcuri</u>, 165 W.Va. 128, 267 S.E.2d 454 (1980); Syl. Pt. 5, Laurie v. Thomas, 170 W.Va. 276, 294 S.E.2d 78 (1982).

The Doctrine of Laches further may be defined as:

...[N]eglect as leads to a presumption that the party has abandoned his claim and declines to assert his right. It is delay in the enforcement of one's rights as works disadvantage to another; or, such delay without regard to the effect it may have upon another as will warrant the presumption that the party has waived his right.

<u>Hoffman v. Wheeling Sav. & Loan Ass'n</u>., 133 W.Va. 694, 707, 57 S.E.2d 725, 732-38 (1950). In turn, and in application, "one who seeks to assert the defense of laches must show, "(1) lack of diligence by the party against who the defense is asserted, and (2) prejudice to the party asserting the defense." <u>Dep't of Health & Human Res., Child Advocate Office ex rel. Robert Michael B. v.</u> <u>Robert Morris N.</u>, 195 W. Va. 759, 762 (1995).

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